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From the Editor . . .

This issue concludes our publication of the procecedings of the
fourteenth Gulf Coast History and Humanitics Conference held at
Pensacola Beach on January 26 and 27, 1996. Four of these papers
were presented in sessions commemorating the 150th anniversary of
statehood for Texas and Florida. They range from the entertaining
account of Mexico’s Pastry War to the careful analysis of the two
states’ different constitutions.

Two other articles explore the events which long proceeded
statchood in 1845, but certainly contributed to them. The 1795 Treaty
of San Lorenzo, which gave the Natchez district to the United States,
and the surveying of the thirty-first degree boundary of the new
nation provide fascinating accounts of the old Southwest before
anyonc had thought of a state of Texas or Florida in the American
union.

Besides these four articles we have a very interesting account
of thc Catholic Church and race rclations in Pensacola in the late
nineteenth century, and From the Archives on a category of records
in the National Archives of regional interest.

Because of the length of these articles we will have a shorter
than usual list of book reviews. The next Gulf Coast Historical
Review will be all book reviews so we can catch you up on ail the
wonderful things coming out about our region. That issuc will be
prepared by our book review editor, Dr. Jim McSwain, and it
promises to be very valuable. Then we will rcturn to our regular
format with the Spring 1998 issue.

This is the last GCHR issue in which Dr. George Daniels will
serve as Executive Editor. Dr. Daniels is retiring from the faculty at
the University of South Alabama effective September 1, 1997. Shortly
after his arrival here in 1983 he proposed the founding of the
regional journal which you know as the Guif Coast Historical Review.
Over the years he has quictly guided the publication with experienced
advice and counsel and helped insure its funding. His will be an
impossibly hard act to follow, and while the journal will miss him,
we certainly wish him well.
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Symposium Notice
The University of Georgia will host a two-day symposium on “Slavery in the
Francophone world: Litcrary, Cultural, and Historical” on October 15 and 16,
1997. Presentations by fifteen French, American, and Caribbean scholars will
explore the linkages between slavery and race in the American South and the
French Caribbean, most notably in the form of post-revolutionary Haitian
refugecs, along with other issues ranging from the role of women of color,
free and slave, in the urban South, comparative perspectives of Caribbean and
American identities, and the postcolonial legacy of slavery in French literature.
1 A highlight of the conference will be the first English-language production of
Guadeloupean writer Maryse Conde’s play, In the Time of the Revolution:
Chasing the Greased Pig of Freedom? The symposium will be held at UGA’s
Center for Continuing Education, in conjunction with the twenty-third annual
Nineteenth Century French Studies Colloguium, which follows on October 17-
20. For more information contact: Professor Doris Kadish, Department of
Romance Languages, University of Georgia, Athens, Georgia 30602.

phone: (706)542-3121

c-mail:dkadish@uga.cc.uga.edu
www.uga.cdu/~rom/an/seminarl.htm
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Andrew Ellicott's Observations While Serving
on the Southern Boundary Commission: 1796-1800

Robert Register

Where stone which lay on Mother Earth
Now points another way to birth.
-W.G. Gray

A stone is located on the west bank of the Mobile River south
of the Alabama Power Company’'s Barry Steam Plant at Bucks,
Alabama,' about twenty-one miles north of Mobile on Highway 43.
This two-foot high sandstonc marker is one of the few eighteenth-
century landmarks in Alabama. Erccted in 1799, it represents some of
the last cvidence of one of the greatest accomplishments of George
Washington’s presidency: the establishment of the thirty-first parallel
of north latitude as the southern boundary of the United States of
America’ It was cntirely appropriatc that in 1968 the American
Society of Civil Engincers selected Ellicott’s Stone to become one of
the first ten ASCE National Historical Civil Engineering Landmarks
in the United States.’

October 27, 1995 commemorated the bicentennial of the Treaty
of San Lorenzo, also known as Pinckney's Treaty. This agrecment
established the thirty-first parallel as a 382-mile international boundary
between the United States and Spanish West Florida. That document
signed by Thomas Pinckney, the Amcrican minister to Great Britain
in 1795, initiated more than sixty years of fierce, bloody and
destructive conflict between the United States and the Muscogee
Nation.” It also “marked the end for Spain’s North American Empire
by yielding control over the Mississippi and by surrendering the
strategic posts north of the thirty-first parallel and east of the
Mis.‘;issippi."'s
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Named for Major Andrew Ellicott, Continental Army officer, a
distinguished astronomer, mathematician and surveyor, Ellicott’s Stone
was erected on the river bank by the boundary commissions of Spain
and the United States in May of 1799. If you own property
anywhere in Alabama south of an cast-west line passing through the
town of Montevallo, the legal description on your deed tells you how
far your property is located from Ellicott’s Stone. For example, the
designation “Township 23. Range 5 East.” indicates your property is
twenty-three townships north and five townships east of this old and
magnificent survey monument. Ellicott’s Stone is the initial point from
which all surveys of public lands in Alabama began.’

Ellicott's Stone is not physically located on the thirty-first
parallel: the U.S. Coast and Geodetic Survey established the Stone as
latitude 30°59'51.463". According to this author's calculations, the
stone is located approximately 863 feet south of the thirty-first
parallel. Despite the slight errors that have persisted for almost two
hundred years, Ellicott's survey of the line passing through this
sandstone marker continues to mark the boundary between Mississippi
and southeastern Louisiana, and the state line between Alabama and
the Florida panhandlc.mA quick glance at any U.S. Geological Survey
quadrangle map of any portion of the Alabama-Florida border will
show three distinct lines following Alabama’s southem boundary. The
Alabama-Florida line is based on the ‘mound line’ along the thirty-
first parallel that followed mounds built at one-mile intervals during
Ellicott’s 1799 survey. The second line is the base line for the public
lands survey which was established after 1818 by General John
Coffee by using Ellicott’s crooked ‘random line’ of blazed trees. This
error resulted in a boundary dispute between Alabama and Florida that
was not resolved until 1854." The last line is the modemn latitude
thirty-first parallel as surveyed by the USGS (a portion of Flomaton,
Alabama is south of this line.)

Andrew Ellicott’s survey of the ‘mound line’ and the ‘random
line’ is a story of one of the first scientific expeditions financed by
the federal government. The tale of the Southern Boundary
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Commission describes an authentic and exciting adventure containing
international plots and subplots, greed, and deception during one of
the most turbulent periods in American history. The difficulties that
Ellicott encountered after crossing the Mobile River crecated hostilities
that would culminate in a civil war within the Muscogee Nation. The
Creck War of 1813-14 and all of the Seminole Wars were rooted in
the fact that “the Crecks were divided between the old communist-
conscrvatives and the new ‘capitalist-progressives.” The rift between
the two was destined to increase until it brought the nation to the
very verge of destruction.”"

The difficulties experienced by the boundary commissioners along
the present day Alabama-Florida border caused these two factions to
become rival governments in 1799. The new “capitalist-progressives’
were represented by the central government of the Creek Confederacy
under the sway of Benjamin Hawkins, agent of the Southern Indians
for the United States.” The old “communist-conservatives” had been
led by the Tame King of Tallassee, and the Seminole chiefs
Methlogley and Kinhijah. These ‘banditti’ were incorporated into the
resurrccted  State of Muscogee by the unsurpassed of dreamers,
William Augustus Bowles, Director General of the Muscogee Nation."”
Director General Bowles made clear the position of the Lower Creeks
and the Seminoles toward the Treaty of San Lorenzo in a letter to
the American Secretary of State on October 31, 1799. Bowles charged
that the United States and Spain were attempting to “usurp cvery
right which the Indians have possessed since the beginning of
times.™® He went on to state:

Any person or persons who shall run lines of any kind whatever
thro’[sic] our territory after the 26th of the month of October, with the
intention to subvert or change the sovercignty, shall if taken suffer death,
and if any force be employed to affect the same agrecable to the treaty
between his Catholic Majesty and the United States, we shall...declare
war against the United States from that moment.”
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In a proclamation issued at Wekiva on the Chattahoochee River,
October 26, 1799, the Director General said, “We have not agreed by
word or act to surrender the sovereignty of our couniry, nor never
thought of so doing.""'

Indian hostility to this treaty did not begin with the adventurer
Bowles. Baron de Carondelet, Spanish Governor of Louisiana and
West Florida, saw war clouds on the horizon as early as May 1796.
In a letter to his superior (and brother-in-law), Luis de Las Casas, the
Captain-General of Cuba, Carondelet observed:

The evacuation of the forts of San Fernando de las Barrancas
(Memphis), Nogales (Vicksburg) and the Confederation (Epes, Alabama)
will excite the greatest resentment and probably the hate and vengeance
of the Chickasaws and Choctaws, who will accuse us of perfidy if,
against the promise we made them at the time they ceded the lands
where they are situated, we ever allow those lands to be occupied by
the Americans; it is known that through them, themselves, the United
States could casily take possession of their lands, and would force them
to flee, causing them to settle in the part west of the Mississippi where
those numerous and belligerent nations will cause the ruin of our
settlements of interior towns and |:prm.'im:t:s.'9

A glimmer of hope for Spain’s Indian allies arose in Madrid
October 29, 1796. The Court of King Charles II of Spain decreed a
suspension of evacuations of posts north of the thirty-first parallel.
Carondelet received this order in late February 1797, too late to
reverse his evacuation orders. His orders had already been carried out
on some of the northern Spanish forts earlier the same month.”

Major Ellicott did not need to see the secret orders to the rulers
of New Spain to know that Spain had no intention of honoring its
treaty with the United States. On at least five occasions he had been
delayed by Spanish officials during his descent on the Mississippi
River?' Even though Governor Gayoso had announced the treaty to
the population in Natchez on December 3, 1'/‘96,22 American
newspapers had carried news of the treaty since May of 1796.”
Spanish commanders at Chickasaw Bluffs (Memphis) and Walnut Hills
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(Vicksburg) acted as if they never heard of a treaty between the
United States and Spain. The Spanish officials along Ellicott’s route
insisted on detaining him.**

On March 22, 1797, Ellicott and the rest of the Americans in
Natchez were alarmed when the Spanish reversed their evacuation
process. Cannon at Fort Panmure de Natchez had been disassembled
in anticipation of evacuation and transported to the river landing, but
now was hauled by the Spanish back to the fort and quickly
remounted. A letter dated the very next day from Ellicott to Governor
Gayoso describes the astronomer’s mood:

Natchez, March 23, 1797
Dear Sir:

The remounting of the cannon at this place, at the very time when
our troops are daily expected down lo take possession of it, the insolent
treatment which the citizens of the United States have lately received at
the Walnut Hills and the delay of the business, {(on your part) which
brought me into this country, concur in giving me reason (o suppose,
that the treaty will not be observed with the same good faith and
punctuality, by the subjects of his Catholic Majesty, as it will by the
citizens of the United States. I hope your Excellency will give such an
cxplanation of the above, as to remove doubts and apprehensions, which
I am afraid have been too justly excited.

I have the honour to be, with great esteem and respect, your friend
and Humble servant,
Andrew Ellicott

His Excellency Manuel Gayoso de Lemos »

Ellicott devotes 145 pages of his three-hundred-page journal of
the Southern Boundary Commission’s activities to the events on the
Mississippi River and at Natchez involving the Spanish delays of the
line survey for more than a year.”

The Spanish necessity for postponing the treaty and delaying
Andrew Ellicott was rooted in the fact that Spain needed time to
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hatch the plots that would invalidate the treaty and enable her to
evade its execution. The Spanish conspiracy focused on two ends,
the dismemberment of the United States and the creation of an
international conflict between the United States and France, with Spain
coming in on the side of France.”

A complete explanation of Spain’s political motivation for delays
and alliance with France is not within the scope of this paper.
Rowland, however, used a quote from Thomas Power to General
James Wilkinson that may provide insight into these events: “The
crazy, tortuous, vacillating politics of our court baffle the common
rules of political prescience, and even the grasp of our conjecture.”™
Whitaker’s comments on the Natchez situation in 1797 also do a
good job of describing the center of the web of intrigue Ellicott and
his American party entered when they became the first men to raise
an American Flag of fifteen stars and fifteen stripes” on the banks
of the lower Mississippi and not have it cut down™":

In the course of this year almost every thread of frontier history
was gathered up at the liny post on the lower Mississippi.
Spanish conspirators of Tennessee and Kentucky, promoters of
land speculation at Muscle Shoals and in the Yazoo country,
officials of the rival governments, Indian and Indian agents, and
ringleaders of the Blount conspiracy-ali met in the little town that
lay between the river and the worthless Spanish fort on a hill
nearby. Though the population of the town and the surrounding
district was not large, the behavior of the people was of vital
importance; and they were so heterogencous a mass-Spaniards,
Frenchman, Britons and Americans from many states-that public
opinion was unpredictable from one weck to the next. If, as
Daniel Clark wrote somewhat later, these people were always
“restless and turbulent,” The events of 1797 gave them plenty of
action that they found so congenial.”

Behind every excuse, pretense, deception, pretext, or justification
for neglecting their obligation was the Spanish conception of the
Treaty of San Lorenzo as “..a diplomatic expedient to serve a
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temporary purpose... That it was scon to be rescinded they were
assured. The treaty was to them no doubt a very pretty and gracious
document, but it did not really mean anything.””

The Spanish procrastination that began in February of 1797
excited more than a year of American rage. If Ellicott had been
“disposed to ride in the whirlwind” rather than possessing “an
inclination to direct the storm,” the transition from Spanish to
American rule would surely have been an antecedent of the Alamo.”
Baron de Carondelet’s policy produced a controversy that “soon
developed hurricane force, and during the twelve-month period of its
continuance, it threatened to sweep the two countries into war.... The
full force of the storm, however, was felt at Natchez, the largest of
the towns in the disputed region, to which the Louisiana authorities
had admitted a representative of the United States government
(Ellicott) before they received the countermanding order from Godoy,
Prime Minister in the Court of Charles IV.”*

Apparently, Major Ellicott’s ‘diplomatic’ responsibilities consumed
most of his time in the spring and summer of 1797. According to his
journal of “astronomical and thermometrical [sic] observations,” the
astronomer accomplished little scientific work during six months of
1797. His journal entry for March 23, 1797, states: “From this time
I was too much occupied by the different commotions in the country,
o attend to a regular series of observations till October; there are
therefore but few entered till that time.””

On June 1, Ellicott was handed a copy of a proclamation of
May 24, in which Carondelet announced a British invasion of upper
Louisiana, a suspension of the survey, and the evacuation of the forts
north of the thirty-first parallel. Ellicott succinctly describes the mood
of the population in Natchez:

After the appearance of the Baron’s proclamation, the public mind
might be compared to inflammable gaz [sic); it wanted but a
spark to produce an explosion! A country in this situation,
presents to the reflecting and inquisitive mind, one of the mog}
interesting and awful spectacles, which concerns the human race.
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Two days later, Carondelet sent a long letter to Thomas Power—
“an Irishman, speaking French, Spanish and English, naturalized in
Spain, who professed to be a wandering naturalist‘“’—-oullining a secret
mission that proved to be Spain’s last attempt to destroy the federal
union of the United States. Power was to offer Major General James
Wilkinson, Commander of the Army of the United States, the
command of an army to defend a new country to be formed by the
western frontier of the Atantic States. Carondelet’s letter shows that
he truly wanted Thomas Power to test the spirit of the General:

I doubt that a person of his character would prefer, through vanity, the
advantage of commanding the army of the Atlantic states, to that of
being the founder, the liberator, in fine, the Washington of the Western
states; his part is brlliant as it is ecasy; all eyes are drawn towards him;
he possesses the confidence of his fellow citizens and of the Kentucky
volunteers; at the slightest movement the people will name him the
General of the new republic; his reputation will raise an army for him
and Spain, as well as France, will furnish him instantly the means of
paying. The public is discontented with the new taxes [Whiskey
Rebellion]; Spain and France are cnraged at the conexions [sic] of the
United States with England; the army is weak and devoted to Wilkinson;
the threats of Congress authorize me to succor on the spot, and openly,
the Western states; money will not then be wanting to me, for I shall
send without delay a ship to Vera Cruz in search of it, as well as
ammunition; nothing more will consequently be required, but an instant
of firmness and resolution, to make the people of the West perfectly

happy.™

Power was also authorized to promise the revolutionaries in
Kentucky and Tennessee $100,000 for their services in starting an
insurrection and another $100,000 for arms along with “twenty pieces
of field artillery.””

Power’s mission accomplished nothing. By opening the
Mississippi River and establishing 2 new southern boundary, the
Treaty of San Lorenzo had appeased the western people. In his
farewell address of September 17, 1796, Washington predicted the end
of western intrigue:
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The inhabitants of our western country have scen in the treaty
with Spain, and in the universal satisfaction at that event, a
decisive proof how unfounded were the suspicions propagated
among them of a policy in the genecral government and in the
Atlantic States unfriendly to their interests in regard to the
Mississippi."

Back in Natchez, the spark that ignited the “inflammable gaz”
was a sermon by a Baptist preacher named Barton Hannon who had
moved to Natchez from Fort St. Stephens on the Tombigbee River
in present day Alabama.”® Ellicowt, with Governor Gayoso’s
permission, allowed Hannon to preach a sermon in the American
camp on Sunday, June 4. This violated the Spanish policy that
forbade any public worship other than according to the rites of
Roman Catholicism. The novelty of the Protestant sermon drew a
large crowd and Mr. Hannon “was extremely puffed up with the
attention he received on that occasion.”"

By Thursday Reverend Hannon had a petition against the Spanish
government signed by fifty-six men and was cursing the “government,
his Excellency and all the whole fraternity, and said if he was sent
to the fort it should be consumed into ashes before morning.”™ On
Friday, June 9, Hannon was

cloted with the attention he had received on account of his
scrmon, and imboldened [sic] by having the permission to speak
publicly, he had with enthusiastic zeal, which was a little
heightened by liquor, entered into a religious controversy in a
disorderly part of the town, gencrally inhabited at that time by
Irish Roman Catholics, who took offense at the manner in which
he treated the tenets of their church, and in revenge gave him a
bczlting."

Hannon sought revenge by organizing a group of armed men to go
hunting for the Catholics who had whipped him. Governor Gayoso
considered this a breach of the peace in the community and had
Hannon arrested’® In subsequent testimony the next day, Hannon
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admitied that he was so drunk on Friday that he didn’t remember
what had happe,nlt:d.r'r

When the Spanish officer arrested Hannon on Friday, the
preacher attempted to escape and yelled, “Help me, fellow
Americans!” to Ellicott’s camp. When the sun came up on Saturday,
the Natchez Revolt of 1797 had begun.*

With the Spaniards taking refuge in Fort Panmure, the Americans
spent Saturday making up miscellaneous plans for taking the rotting
stockade. The release of another proclamation from Carondelet on
Sunday certainly made matters worse. This proclamation claimed that
an American Army was heading for Natchez. Americans in Natchez
considered this “a declaration of war against the United States.”"

By Saturday, June 17, the Spanish and American patrols were
firing at one another, so the Quaker in Ellicott was in the mood for
a compromise. By June 23, a temporary committece for safety had
been formed by the Americans and Gayoso had agreed to allow this
“neutral” government to administer most of the legal affairs in the
Natchez District.”

By September, Ellicott had received the news that Senator
William Blount from Tennessee had been involved in a plot that
combined Indian, British and American forces for an attack on New
Orleans, and furthermore, Mr. Blount had been expelled from the
United States Senate. This information confirmed so many of Ellicott’s
suspicions. Now the Major saw all of his opponents as being a part
of some “conspiracy [that] might be part of a larger plan to
revolutionize Spanish America’” A. J. Pickett sums up Ellicott's
tumultuous year in Natchez: “In the Midst of scenes like these,
Ellicott was kept in suspense, until 29th March, when the Spanish
fort was evacuvated, and all the Spanish troops sailed down the
river.””

Godoy, the Spanish Prime minister, finally came through on
the promises that he made to the United States on October 27, 1795,
at San Lorenzo. Before the French could remove him from office in
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Map Legend

May 16, 1798. Ellicott completes observations at
this astronomical observatory at “Union Hill” on
the east bank of the Mississippi River and the
commissioners determine the first control point
on the southern boundary of the United States,

June 7, 1798. The commissioners move their
camp to Littlc Bayou Sarah and set up their
observatory.

August 28, 1798. The line is carried east to
Thompson’s Creek. The commissioners abandon
the idea of establishing control points at ten mile
intervals along the compass line.

December 15, 1798. Ellicott dismantles his
obscrvatory on the east bank of the Pearl River
and proceeds to New Orleans where he spends
the winter.

April 9, 1799. Ellicott completes work at the
observatory built on the west bank of the Mobile
River and the commissioners erect Ellicott’s
Stone.

10.

11.

May 20, 1799. Ellicott completes work at an
observatory built on the Conecuh River near
Miller’s farm.

August 19, 1799. Ellicott ends the survey of
the thirty-first parallel on the west bank of the
Chattahoochee River, approximately 382 miles
cast of the Mississippi River.

September 17, 1799. Indians violently end the
survey at the observatory located in present day
Chattahoochee, Florida.

December 29, 1799. Ellicott completes
observations at Point Peter on St. Marys River.

February 26, 1800. The commissioners end the
actual surveying by building a large mound of
earth at the source of St. Marys River.

April 10, 1800. Final observations are
completed at the south end of Cumberland
Island.
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1798, Godoy ordered the new Govermnor of Louisiana and West
Florida, Manuel Gayoso, to evacuate the posts.” Ellicott writes:

On the 29th of March late in the evening, I was informed
through a confidential channel, that the cvacuation would take
place the next morning, before day; in consequence of which, I
rose the next momning at four o'clock, walked to the fort, and
found the last party, or rear guard just leaving it and as the gate
was left open, I went in, and enjoyed from the parapet, the
pleasing prospect of the gallies [sic] and boats leaving the shore,
and getting under way.

Now after more than twelve months of waiting, Ellicott could
begin the important business of his commission: the creation of a new
southern boundary of the United States.

Ellicott and his American contingent left Natchez April 9,
1798, to begin the survey on the eastern bank of the Mississippi
River south of Clarksville. Preliminary observations indicated the first
point of the line was on the river almost four miles south of the
encampment. Desiring to establish the initial point of the survey on
higher ground, Ellicott brought his boats down the river, then up
Bayou Tunica. He hauled his baggage to the site of his observatory
using small skiffs and pack horses.”

By the time the Spanish commissioner and his astronomer
arrived, Ellicott had completed the observations of zenith distances
establishing the initial control point of the survey. Between May 6
and May 16, 1798, Ellicott logged thirty observations of zenith
distances of five different stars. The result of these calculations
produced a mean latitude north 30°59'43.74" for Ellicott’s
observatory.”® When the astronomer from the Spanish commission,
William Dunbar, arrived on Union Hill on May 26, he found Ellicott
ready to order the crews to begin cutting a sixty-foot-wide trace east
and west of this control point.” According to Holmes, Gayoso named
the site of the first observatory “‘Union Hill’...as an indication of the
harmony existing between the Spanish and American camps."”
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The arrival of Governor Gayoso on May 31, 1798, brought
pomp and ceremony to this wilderness camp pitched on the east bank
of the Mississippi. The next day Gayoso and Ellicott went fourteen
hundred feet north of the camp where Gayoso “approved of the work
on the line.”” That evening Governor Minor, the Spanish boundary
commissioner, “gave a superb dinner of game and fish, dried fruits
and Madeira fit for the gods.” Ellicott was not impressed with
everything that came with the company of the Governor of His Most
Catholic Majesty’s province of West Florida. On June 19, 1798, in
a letter to his wife, Ellicott mentioned Govemor Gayoso’s visit to the
camp on Union Hill:

Govermnor Gayoso paid me a visit few days ago al my camp in
the woods-we met and saluted in the Spanish manner by kissing!
I had not been shaved for two days-Men's kissing I think a most
abominable custom. <t is 9 o'clock at night and my cyes almost
put out by the muskeetos [sic]. s

On June 10, 1798, an official communication from Gayoso
had informed Ellicott that the American camp was to be attacked and
massacred by the Choctaws. In his journal, Ellicott called the
communiqué a part of the Spanish “system of delay.”® This
assumnption of Indian passivity was probably supported by the colossal
fraud Ellicott had perpetrated on the Choctaw Nation. While camped
in Natchez, Ellicott, with no authorization from the United States
government, promised the Choctaws two thousand dollars per year in
return for the boundary commission’s safe passage through the
Choctaw country west of the Mobile River.”

In his journal, Ellicott states his negotiations with the
Choctlaws “would probably be very uninteresting at this time, but little
will be said upon it; it was, however, attended with considerable
difficulty, and if circumstantially detailed, would of itself require a
volume.”™ Winthrop Sargent, the first Governor of the Mississippi
Territory, would certainly have appreciated details of Ellicott's

—— e —— ————
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activities as an ad hoc Indian agent when the governor wrote to the
angry Choctaw chief, Franchammassatubba, on November 25, 1799:

Mr. Ellicott has I am told made you many promises, but I
believe he was not authorized so to do, nor do [ believe our
government will be informed thereof, till notice which I have sent
forward shall arrive, and which did not come to me for sufficient
credit until very !alciy.“

Holmes attributes Choctaw acquiescence to the “get-tough
policy of the Spanish Govemnor-General of Louisiana and West
Florida, Manuel Gayoso de Lemos, who warned that regular troops
and militia would be used to punish the Indians for any insult to the
American or Spanish boundary commission members.” Regardless,
Ellicott’s confidence in Indian cooperation collapsed after he crossed
the Mobile River.

By July 28, 1798, the Mississippi River had returned to its
banks, and the Spanish commission astronomer, William Dunbar,
volunteered to carry the line westward into the swamps.ﬂ Dunbar had
settled in West Florida in 1773 and while retaining his British
citizenship after the Galvez takeover in 1779, he became a successful
planter under the Spanish régime. Gayoso appointed him Surveyor
General of the District of Natchez.™ Dunbar vividly describes the
working conditions on the survey line while encamped on a bluff
above the Mississippi Valley in August 1798.

In this situation were innumerable swarms of Gnats, and a variety
of other stinging and biting insects; ..the surface of the earth
teerned with life; objects themselves at every step in this animated
hot bed, not of those kinds which invite and delight the view of
the inquisitive naturalist; but of the most disgusting forms and
noxious kinds, a few of those were the Serpents of the waters
frequently entwined in clusters to the number of several hundreds,
and a vast varicty of toads, frogs, including the bull-frop, and the
thundering Crocodile [sic], all of hideous forms, with a multitude
of othets too tedious to mention..many of our modern adventurers
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have established a very considerable reputation upon human
credulity, by the display of imaginary sufferings, and the
pretended achievement of arduous exploits, which in the country
from whence I write, are submitted to and performed as the
ordinary occurrence of :vcryday.“

Dunbar worked on the survey line from May 26 to August
28, 1798. The survey covered only eighteen miles and progress was
measured at less than one-quarter mile per day. Dunbar and the
Spanish crew pushed the line westward through the impenetrable canes
and swamps that bordered the Mississippi River. He described the
work done after July 28:

The moist and swampy soil in the vicinity of the Mississippi
being considered as hazardous to the health of our Northem
friends, 1 proposed that the American commissioner [Ellicott]
should continue his progress castward, with the White laborers,
50 in number, reserving for myselfl the task of pushing the line
through the low grounds to the margin of the Mississippi with
the assistance of 2 surveyors, 22 black laborers and a white
overseer.”

The goal of the commissioners was to establish control points
at ten-mile intervals along a compass line. Corrections of the line
would be made from astronomical observations made at ecach of these
points. The rugged terrain entangled and impeded work to such an
extent that they soon abandoned that idea. By August 28, 1798, the
line was carried east to Thompson’s Creek. Being the limit of
cultivated land, Dunbar decided to quit his post as Spanish surveyor
to return home to his family. Less than two miles from Thompson’s
Creek, Ellicott also gave up. He wrote, “At the end of the twenty-
first mile in the line, the land became of a more inferior quality,
from which we concluded to pursue a less scientific but a more
expeditious method.””" Ellicott broke camp at Thompson's Creek on
October 27, 1798. Loading the pack horses, the commissioners slowly
moved ecighty-five miles east to the Pearl River. This was the method
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to be used for the remainder of the survey. The final 275 miles of
the survey of the thirty-first parallel were corrected at only three
observatories: the Mobile, Conecuh, and Chattahoochee Rivers.”

Homesickness and mosquitoes were not the sole factors for
Dunbar’s departure. The disharmony within the American camp could
very well have contributed to Dunbar's resignation of his commission.
Ellicott was at ‘war’ with his surveyor, Thomas Freeman, and the
commanding officer of the US. Army escort, Lt. IvlcClcary.73 On
October 14, 1798, Major General Wilkinson visited the commissioner’s
camp on Thompson’s Creek. Ellicott used his influence with
Wilkinson to remove Freeman and McCleary.”™

A significant incident occurred on the way to the Pearl River.
Ellicott came into possession of evidence that could have very well
ended the wheeling and dealing of the cunning Major General
Wilkinson. On November 14, 1798, Ellicott sent a letter to the
American Secretary of State Pickering. This letter contained passages
Ellicott had copied from a letter written by Gayoso to another
Spanish officer. Gayoso’s letter outlined in detail an elaborate
conspiracy, financed by the Spanish crown, to detach Kentucky and
Tennessec from the United States. Wilkinson was to be sent at the
head of an army into New Mexico to initiate a greater plan: build a
new empire west of the Mississippi River.”

Royal Shreve in The Finished Scoundrel suggests that
Secretary Pickering ignored Ellicott’s letter because it contained only
transcriptions and not Gayoso's original letter. In all probability
Ellicott’s copy would “fare badly in court. Perhaps that is why
Pickering, at this point, instructed him [Ellicott] to drop further
invcstigaliom"'m

The friction with Freeman, along with other ghosts of 1798,
came back to haunt Ellicott in later years. On September 1, 1811,
General Wilkinson was court-martialed on charges of treason. Without
Gayoso’s original letter, Ellicott’s testimony was little more than
hearsay evidence.” Freeman's testimony concerning Ellicott’s alleged
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ntimacy with the washerwoman, Betsy, contributed to Wilkinson's
‘atter demolition of the character of the eminent astronomer.””

Ellicott and both commissions arrived at the canebreak
sordering the Pearl River on November 17, 1798. In his journal
illicott describes the problems he encountered since leaving
Chompson’s Creek:

The swamps were numerous, and many of them so deep, that we
had to go considerably out of our way to cross, or go around
them, and others we had to causeway: add to those difficulties,
a total want of information respecting the face of the country,
which in our direction, did not appear to have been explored by
white people; some of the streams were so deep that we had to
cross on rafts.”

The lavish feasts that had occurred in June with Gayoso were
1ot to be repeated on the Pearl River. In fact, Ellicott ran out of all
wovisions except beef on November 27, 1798. On November 30 he
vas finally re-supplied by a pack train from Thompson's Creek.

The pack train also brought Ellicott’s small sector, an
nstrument used in calculating observations.” Nineteen inches in
adius, it was little more than a sextant with a smaller arc and a
onger radius. It was not designed to provide the accuracy for
:stablishing the precise boundary between the two nations, but it was
dl the commissioners had.

No one knew when or if the rest of the equipment would
urive.” Using this instrument in December, Ellicott made thirty-six
bservations of zenith distances of seven stars on eight evenings.
illicott’s astronomical journal of 1798 ended with a calculation of
11°0'2.7" as the mean latitude north for the location of his
bservatory on the east bank of the Pearl River. This meant that the
sbservatory was 272 feet north of the actual line.” After correcting
o the south, David Gillespie, who replaced Freeman, corrected back
o Thompson's Creek by laying off mounds by offsets at one-mile
ntervals along the thirty-first paraliel. Daniel Barnet was sent east to
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continue the guide line to the Mobile River. Ellicott now went down:
river to New Orleans” This was the pattern he would continue ir
Mobile, Pensacola, St. Marks, and Point Peter. Ellicott would get the
credit while much of the work was done by his subordinates
Hamilton describes Gillespie's legacy:

Gillespic was quictly plodding the forests, running a guide line
and by offsets cstablishing the true latitude of 31°. But nothing
from Gillespie can now be found at Washington [D.C.] and even
Ellicott’s original report seems to have shared the fate of so
mich else in the vandal destruction of the Capital by the enemy
(British] in 1814

Some citizens of the United States may have believed the
demarcation line of their country’s first expansion was the answer tc
their prayer. Inhabitants of what was then called West Florida
however, did not agree that the United States of America was the
‘redeemer nation.” While Ellicott and his party were wintering in New
Orleans, the first trickle of refugees began their journey south of the
thirty-first parallel to escape the American experiment in humar
freedom. Peter Hamilton cites the first refugee to arrive in Mobile a:
Lawrence McDonald, an Indian trader for Panton, Leslie & Co
McDonald was clear that he did not desire “to live under the
government of the United States of America.™®

November 8, 1798 found the Spanish government in Mobil¢c
receiving a list of citizens from the Tensaw District requesting tc
receive land grants and move into Spanish territory.” A.B. Moorc
quotes Pintado, deputy surveyor of West Florida, as complaining “tha
most of those who moved down below the line 31° in compliance
with the treaty of 1796 were Anglo-Americans, some Scotch anc
Irish, a few Germans, and about a dozen of Spaniards, most of then
unmarried.”” The liberal land grants and benevolent policies of the
Spanish evidently attracted many.
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In New Orleans, Ellicott spent the winter enjoying the hospitality ¢
Governor Gayoso, the man whose mail Ellicott rifled in Novembe
From January 19 to February 26, 1799, Ellicott made twenty-thre
observations of zenith distances of five stars to calculate the city’
mean latitude north as 29°57'28.7". Between January 14 and Februar
17 Ellicott also deduced a longitude of 90°14' west of Greenwic
from observations of the eclipses of Jupiter’s moons.”

Ellicott also stayed busy there outfitting the commission’s shij
and getting supplies for his trip up the Mobile River. Not finding ¢
vessel to his liking, he bought a hull made of live oak and cedar anc
hired several men to deck and outfit the vessel. Receiving permissior
from the local bishop to work Sundays, Ellicott and the crew could
labor seven days a week “from daylight until dark, until she was
ready for sea.””

Ellicott decided to save money by making himself master of
the vessel, crewing it with two British deserters. On March 1, 1799,
Ellicott navigated the new United States schooner Sally down the
canal that led to Lake Ponchartrain’ Possibly named for Ellicott’s
wife, the ship was “a small, light-built schooner, of not more than 38
or 40 tons burden.” This ship was built for the coastal trade on the
Gulf of Mexico.” From March of 1799 until she sailed into the
harbor of Savannah on May 1, 1800, the Sally served the Southern
Boundary Commission with distinction.

Delayed by bad winds, the ship arrived on the compass line
on the banks of the Mobile River the evening of March 17, 1799.
Gillespie and his assistants had blazed the line from the Pearl River,
arriving some days earlier. They had erected the observatory, and on
the moming of March 18 the instruments were set up so that a week
later observations of stars bf.:gan.93

These observations ended on April 19, the results being the
compass line was found to be 8,556 feet north of the 31° latitude;
the bad news for the Spanish was that St. Stephens fell north of the
true line. After carefully laying out corrections to the South, the
commission set up a two-foot high marker.”* The marker still stands
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ind to this day it “is the origin of all land surveys in the southern
sart of Alabama and Mississippi.””

Ellicott’s observations in the Mobile delta caused the
istronomer to conclude the waterway was “at this time of much more
mportance to the United States than all the other waters between the
Mississippi River and the Atlantic Ocean,” and that the lands drained
dy this river system were “at this time the most vulnerable part of
he Union."

Ellicott took down his instruments on April 10 to begin his
royage to Pensacola. On April 20, he sailed into Pensacola where he
vas provided with “convenient lodgings” by Panton, Leslie & Co.
-ater, Ellicott boasted in his journal he always obtained lodging or
;amped “free of expense to the public...from the time I left Pittsburgh
n the year 1796, until my return to Philadelphia in the year 1800."”

Earlier at the Mobile camp Ellicott had written Benjamin
{awkins requesting Hawkins to attend talks in Pensacola with the
ipparently hostile Creck Indians. Hawkins arrived in Pensacola April
'5 where a series of talks were planned to convince the Indians “that
he line we were tracing was not a line of property, but of
urisdiction, a line between white people, and not intended in any
vay to affect the Indians in either their property, manners, customs
r rcIigicm."gli The commissioners got a formal agreement, but events
n Pensacola started a conflict between the Seminoles and the United
itates that would not end until the outbreak of the War Between the
itates stopped opposition to the fugitive Seminoles in the Florida
iverglades.”

Ellicott and Hawkins argued that ten or twelve days of talks
n Pensacola would invite drunkenness in the Indians, further delaying
he survey. Winning this argument with Governor Vincinte Folch, the
alks were moved up the Conecuh River to Miller’s farm on April
9. Folch did not attend these talks, leading Mad Dog, principle chief
if the Creeks, to observe “well, the Governor has not come, I told
'ou slc;.) a man with two tongues can only speak with one at a
ime.”
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After receciving an agreement from the 212 Indians ir
attendance to live up to the terms of Article 5 of the Treaty o
Coleraine of 1796, the commissioners set up the observatory. The
Indians promised to provide an escort for the commission of twc
chiefs and twenty warriors. "' Along with observation of the stars
Ellicott witnessed a transit of Mercury across the face of the Sun or
May 6.2

Returning to Pensacola May 26, Ellicott became suspicious o
Governor Folch’s activities. Deciding to stay a few days, the
commission was rewarded when 180 Indians, at the invitation o
Governor Folch, arrived from the upper towns of Tallassee anc
Ocfuskee.'” Since these Indians were now under United State
jurisdiction, Folch handled the potentially embarrassing situation by
lcaving town. Earlier, Hawkins had been told by “a confidentia
Indian” that Folch issued the invitation because “the talks wern
crooked and the linc would be stoppcd."’m

After calling Folch back 1o Pensacola in late June 1799
Hawkins got the governor off the hook by agreeing to give th
Indians gifts on behalf of the United States. Satisfying the Indian
and costing “the amount of two or three hundred dollars,” Hawkin
financed the deal from an unlikely source. Ellicott had been holding
twelve hundred dollars owed the Creck Indians since November 7
1797. The money had been promised to the Creeks for the year
1796 and 1797 by the United States under a secret article of the
Treaty of New York in 1790. Hawkins had satisfied the Creeks witl
gifts bought with their own money that was three years overdue.'”

Since May 22, while all this was going on, Gillespie hac
been working ecastward on the compass line, reaching th
Chattahoochee June 22.'® Ellicott had remained in Pensacola too lon
and arrived much later at the camp-located in the present Houstor
County, Alabama-on July 25. The delay of more than one montl
doomed the survey. On September 22 Hawkins wrote his nephew
expressing his disgust with Ellicott:
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It is not yet explained to me why these gentlemen made a halt
of three months at the Chattahoochee. You know 1 seriously
pressed them not 1o remain more than two [months), and that in
that casc they might proceed on in perfect safety. They would be
moving in the season of the Boosketah when all the discontented
would be attending on the annual ceremonies at this annual
festival,'”

As if enough delay had not occurred, another circumstance
‘ose, increasing Creek resistance beyond anyone's expectations. While
llicott was delaying on the Chatiahoochee, William Augustus Bowles
ras acquiring barrels of gunpowder and boxes of bullets from the
ritish port of Kingston, Jamaica. According to Hawkins, the news
f Bowles imminent arrival on the Chattahoochee “had put the thieves
nd mischiefmakers in motion.”"

On two previous occasions, 1788 and 1792, Bowles had
ittempted to establish a British protectorate among the Creeks of the
Sulf of Mexico frontier. Bowles's last arrest in New Orleans in 1792
1ad sent him to Spanish prisons in Havana, Madrid, and the
Philippines. After six years of imprisonment, he escaped from a
Spanish prison ship off Senegal, beginning his return to his Indian
family on the lower Chattahoochee.'®

Between July 25, 1799 and August 19, 1799, Ellicott made
forty-four observations of seven stars to determine a mean latitude of
31°1'9.4" for his observatory on the west bank of the Chattahoochee.
Ellicott laid off a line 7,110.5 feet south and ended his survey of the
thirty-first parallel.'’

This 7,110.5 foot north-south line formed the base of a
triangle that had its apex at the Tensaw River. After 1818, General
John Coffee based his public land surveys on the crooked northern
“random line” of this triangle which Gillespie had run by compass.
This line “was marked by ‘blazes’ of the trees, every tree on the line
being blazed both on the north and the south side; and all other trees
within about one hundred feet north and south of the line were
blazed on the side nearest the line.”""
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Apparently Coffee found the blazed line easier to follow tt
the actual “mound line” which formed the southern arm of t
lrianglc."2 This line “was marked by circular mounds of earth, abc
a mile apart, each surrounded by a ditch from which the earth h
been thrown up to form the mound.”'”

This confusion created a boundary conflict between Alabar
and Florida that was not resolved until 1854. By that time t
disputed triangle between the two slates “was virtually a no-man
land, and became the natural resort of criminals and desperadoes fro
both states, since, within that strip they could defy the officers of ti
law.”""* This old conflict comes down to us today in the parti
Alabama townships formed between “Coffee’s line” and *Ellicott
line.”

Stephen Minor, the Spanish commissioner, saw th
Chattahoochee camp as “a place to form the most beautifi
settlements.” In a letter to Gayoso on August 5, 1799, Minor stateg

Now from one side to the other of the river along almost the
entire extent of the road to this camp may be found Indian
plantations on which may be seen good fields of com, rice, peas,
beans, potatoes, melons, watermelons, cucumbers, etc., and most
of them have chickens, pigs, and catte in abundance. Some of
them have very good herds with various Negro slaves, indicating
to me that they live in very rcasonable comfort. The river
abounds with various delicious fish. All these details convince me
that while settlements in these arcas would prosper greatly. I am
sure that on the eastern bank of the Mississippi there are no
better lands on which to raise catile.’”

Thieving at the Chattahoochee camp reached intolerable levels
in August. Ellicott assembled the Indians on August 15 for a
conference. They agreed to return stolen horses and protect the survey
from harm. Ellicott, however, was apprehensive:

I nevertheless had my doubts of their sincerity, from the
depredations they were constantly committing upon our horses,
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which began on the Coenecuh [sic] [river], and had continued
ever since; and added to their insolence, from their stealing every
article in our camp they could lay their hands on.'®

On August 21 Ellicott received a warning from Indian trader
James Burgess, who lived near the present day Bainbridge, Georgia.
Serving as a deputy agent and interpreter for the boundary
commissioners, Burgess warned Ellicott the survey crew would be
attacked on the way to the St. Marys River and that Hawkins should
be summoned.'"’

At the end of August the commissioners moved their camp
down river to the present-day Chattahoochee, Florida, at the forks of
the Apalachicola. This observatory was the site where the Seminole
[ndians began their tenacious defiance of the United States. Today,
atop the bluff where the observatory was built is a residential
subdivision west of Pearl Street, between High and King Streets.'"

On September 1 the Spanish Commissioner, Minor, dismissed
1is escort, telling Ellicot his men were also unneeded.'” This action
would indicate Minor was unaware of Indian hostility. About two
weeks later, he would have to eat the words he had spoken to
Zllicott.

On September 9 Burgess appeared in camp asking if
Jawkins had arrived. When told no, Burgess insisted the
:ommissioners “have not written as pointedly as was necessary, or he
Hawkins] would have been here before this.” Burgess went on to say
‘you will positively be plundered on your way to St. Mary's; you
nay think me a fool, but mark the end.”'™

Hawkins arrived on September 14, and on September 17 the
:amp received a message from Indian Willie, who lived a few miles
torth of the commissioner’s camp. His note warned that twenty
ndians had spent the night near his place and they were up to no
;ood.'z'

Threatening to overrun the commissioner’s camp, the Indians
tole fourteen horses and plundered the schooner. After receiving
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information more Indians were in route to join the war party, Ellicott
and Minor decided to retreat. Minor was to continue eastward and if
he was not pursued by Indians, continue overland to St Marys.'?

When describing this conflict to the Secretary of State, Ellicott
predicted the demise of the Creeks and Seminoles in a letter dated
October 9, 1799;

Many of the most sensible and best informed of the chiefs look
wpon the loss of their country as inevitable and it will be
brought about by the bad conduct of their young men, who
equally abhor restraint and despise advise. Such people are only
brought to reflection by being beaten; and as we have men
cnough under pay at present, it might probably be done now, and
at less expense than at any future pc:ril:ui.m

Hawkins immediately used the incident with the Seminoles at
the river junction to consolidate his power in the Creek national
council at Tuckabatchee in November 1799. Cotterill writes that
Hawkins’s insistence on punishing the perpetrators alienated a Creck
council that “was much opposed to an action so unprecedented in
Creck history, and so, in violation of Creek custom....The humiliatior
(of the perpetrators), however pleasant to Hawkins, only increased the
recalcitrance of the Tame King and added to the number of hi:
adherents.”'*

Almost fifteen years later, the Tame King would be a leade
of the Creck revolutionaries who were defeated by Andrew Jackson':
army. On August 9, 1814, a bitter Benjamin Hawkins witnessed the
Treaty of Fort Jackson ceding twenty million acres of Creek land tc
the United States, and end a war that “had demonstrated his long
efforts to civilize the Creeks had failed.”'”

McReynolds uses a letter from Minor to David Gillespie
reveal the Spanish commissioner’s opinion of Ellicott’s retreat fron
the survey of this first Southern boundary of the United States:
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Mr. Ellicott, listening to the whispers of his familias spirit, and
keeping in view the principles of his Sect, and the imreparable
loss that society would suffer by his death prudently embarked
with his family, including Parks the parrot, Bit the Squirrel, &c.
in Bemnard's schooner, and gently glided down the stream into the
bosom of snfcty.m

On the way to St. Marks, Ellicott received a letter from
Jowles, who was shipwrecked on the eastern end of St. George
sland. While visiting Bowles, a storm forced Ellicott to remain eight
lays. His conversation during that period with the Director General
f the Creek Nation convinced Ellicott that Bowles “ought to be
ounteracted by every citizen of the United States.” Ellicott went on
o say, however, that Bowles “behaved on all occasions whilst with
ne in a polite and friendly manner, and generously furnished me with
he necessary charts and directions for sailing around cape Florida.”'”’

Ellicott returned Bowles’s favor by supplying the shipwrecked
wdventurer and his crew with flour and rice. Ellicott also asked
3owles and his men not to attack the commission’s supply ship, en
oute and cxpected to arrive from New Orleans, and that Bowles
‘urther direct the ship to sail for St. Marys; Bowles agreed to this
'cquest.m Bowles could certainly have been sympathetic with a man
waiting ‘for his ship to come in,” as Bowles had spent his share of
ime waiting on shore.

On October 7, after two weeks of delay from violent storms,
Ellicott finally made landing at the Spanish fort at St. Marks. While
oreparing for the voyage around Florida, Ellicott enjoyed the
Company of the Spanish commander, Capt. Thomas Portell and his
wife, “an agreecable Spanish lady.”” His conversations with the
Portells confirmed Ellicott’s suspicions regarding General Wilkinson.
Ellicott told the General of his conversations with the Portells in a
letter dated January 21, 1808:

About the 16th October, 1799, capt. [sic] Portell, who then
commanded at Apalachy [sic], informed me that at New Madrid,
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in the year 1796, he put on board a boat under the direction of
Mr. T. Power, 9,640 dollars for your use. ] questioned frequently
whether this money was not on account of some mercantile
transaction, he declared it was not."™

This was the type of information that President Washingto
had instructed Ellicott to collect. In the same letter, Ellicott wrote th
general that:

Before I left Philadelphia in the year 1796, as commissioner on
behalf of the United States to camry into effect our treaty with
Spain, president Washington communicated to me in the most
confidential manner possible, that suspicions had been signified to
him of certain citizens of the U. states, improperly connecling
themselves with the Spanish government, among whom you were
particularly noticed. He thought it a business of so much
importance, both to the honour and safety of the country, as to
merit a thorough, though private, investigation, and direcied me
lo pay a strict attention to that subjm:t.“l

By October 18, Ellicott packed his crew, three years o
paperwork, his apparatus and baggage into the small schooner Sally
Bad weather kept the ship in Apalachee Bay until October 20. The
opening of a barrel of spoiled beef the first day at sea caused many
of the passengers to demand returning to St. Marks. This rebellior
earmed the malcontents a reprimand which “prevented any complaint:
during the voyage, though we were frequently in disagreeabk
situations.”'*

The voyage around the peninsula of Florida was a memorable
fifty days, especially for fifteen of the passengers who had never beer
to sea: the ship with provisions passed them (the new crew of whict
had been provided by Bowles), privateers chased them, crashing waves
wrecked the rigging and threatened to founder the ship, and they were
witness to a burial at sea. On December 9, these ‘lubbers’ were
delighted to reunite in St. Marys with their friends from the
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iillespic and Minor parties who had traveled overland and were
/aiting for them."

On February 26, the Spanish and American Commissioners
wilt a mound at the source of the St. Marys River in the
dkeefenokee Swamp.'™ This mound is found on all current USGS
naps of the area, north of the town of Moniac, Georgia. This was
he eastern terminus of the line which began at the junction of the
Chattahoochee and Flint Rivers. The difficulty of determining the
source of this river produced a boundary dispute between Georgia and
Florida which was not resolved until 1866." The building of the
controversial mound was the end of the commission's actual
surveying.

The reports and maps were completed and confirmed by the
American and Spanish Commissions on Cumberland Island, April 10,
1800. The next day the Sally left St. Marys harbor arriving May 1
in Savannah. The small schooner had served its purpose in
establishing the United States’ newest southern boundary. Ellicott
decided to send the ship to a place where it could continue serving
the United States: Fort Stoddard-near present-day Mt. Vernon,
Alabama-the newly established southenmost port-of-entry into the
United States.™® Ellicott believed the United States “needed to be
formidable in that quarter,” and “the Mobile, Tombeckby [sic] and the
Alabama Rivers, are at this time of much more importance to the
United States than all the other waters between the Mississippi River
and the Atlantic Ocean.”"”’

After chartering a sloop bound for Philadelphia, Ellicott and
his party sailed from Savannah May 9. Ellicott was reunited with his
family in the City of Brotherly Love on May 18, 1800."

By 1803, Ellicott had prepared and published the journal of
the commission's activities from 1796 to 1800. At the same time,
Thomas Jefferson wrote Ellicott concerning a scientific expedition to
the West. In late April and ecarly May 1803, Ellicott worked seventeen
days and nights instructing Meriwether Lewis in the use and
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application of the instruments used for determining longitude an
latitude.™

Catherine Mathews recognized the importance of these lessor
in her 1908 biography of Ellicott:

There is perhaps no other incident of Major Ellicott’s life which
so appeals to the imagination as this, where the veteran explorer
and engineer brings, for the cager young man whose hope of
conquering a wildemess is so strong within him, all lore of the
land primeval, all the knowledge fought for and gained in the
woods of Virginia, Pennsylvania, and western New York and on
the rivers and bayous of the Southern states. It was the counsel
of a ripe experience that Major Ellicott gave. Danger had been
his own daily comrade throughout long years, privation and
hardship he had met at the very outset of his career, and he had
long ago lcamed how to make friends with them. How much or
how little of Captain Lewis’s success may be traced to his
[Ellicott’s] wise counsel, we cannot know, but one would like to
have hecard with Captain Lewis the secret of baffling and
subduing the adversitics of nature, and the way to travel
unharmed through a wilderness that sought to devour you."o

Ellicott’s delineation of the United States southern boundary
also permanently alienated the Seminoles from their ancient connection
with the Creek Nation and produced “the result of so increasing their
[Seminole] already considerable spirit of independence that they
became practically a separate tribe.” This separation of the Creeks and
the Seminoles comes down to us to this day.“'

Today, Ellicott’s influence lives with all who call the Guif
Coast their home. His descriptions vividly depict the sea and
wilderness of that time. Furthermore, his descriptions remind us that
our first communities were Natchez, New Orleans, Mobile, Pensacola,
St. Marks, St. Augustine, Frederica and St. Marys. The incredible
accuracy of the observations and calculations has its contemporary
legacy: the shapes and boundaries of Louisiana, Mississippi, Alabama,
Georgia and Florida. The Boundary Commission’s observations should
never be dismissed as having “slight interest save for historical and
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cientific specialists.”* Ellicott’s thrilling story is integral in the
ounding of the Mississippi Territory in 1798. As we approach the
ricentennial of that episode in American history, we should reflect on
wr Gulf Coast version of the ‘Founding Fathers’ and the beginning
f the end for the Spanish empire on the Gulf of Mexico.

Ellicott's Stone on the Mobile River, showing the Spanish side. Mobile
Public Library, Local History Division.
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The Treaty of San Lorenzo and Manifest Destiny
Ethan Grant

Winthrop Sargent, first territorial governor of Mississippi, held his
new subjects in low esteem after visiting the camp of surveyor
Andrew Ellicott in 1798. He wrote to his secretary that he had
learned that the populace of Natchez were “the most abandoned
villains who have escaped from the chains and prisons of Spain and
have been convicted of the blackest of crimes.” Frances Bouligny,
governor of Spanish Naichez in 1784, remarked that the people came
to town and drank all day. The father of Jefferson Davis discovered
an aristocratic and prosperous people at Natchez when he arrived in
1806." All three spoke of the British settler community at Natchez,
a group who lived under three flags in twenty years. They came as
British subjects before 1779, lived under Spanish rule from that year,
and became United States citizens in 1798.

The “Black Legend” has painted Spanish colonial administrators
as ineffective and lazy at worst, corrupt at best; and rabidly Catholic.
Wherever it may have becen true, that was not the case in this
instance. The crown treated thc Anglos with great tolerance and
understanding. Authoritics did much to gain their loyalty, or at least
passive acceptance of His Catholic Majesty’s rule.

Similar pains went into rclations with the tribes of the area of
modern Alabama and Mississippi. The crown devoted much effort to
Indian relations, diligently working to gain peace among tribes long
accustomed to warfare with each other. The policy worked more often
than not.

At a time when the expanding United States frontier was the
scene of much bloodletting, not once after 1780 did any settler at
Natchez experience more than an occasional threat of expulsion by
Indians of the arca. Choctaw chicfs needed reminding from time to
time that the authoritics would not allow those they ruled to take
native land. Though they looked likc Americans and spoke the samy
language, the local “Spaniards” were no threat to them or their lands



46 Gulf Coast Historical Review Spring 1997

Expediency motivated those who set local colonial policy, not
some stirring of the Enlightenment in the New World. The Natchez
District of Louisiana served as a frontier outpost for the jewel of the
Spanish empire, the viceroyalty of Espafia Nueva. Realizing the
importance of that outpost, extraordinary steps were taken by
farsighted officials in Madrid.

Their fears proved correct. In 1795 Spain ceded the Natchez
District to the United States in the Treaty of San Lorenzo, though the
actual change of flags took until 1798. In short order Louisiana went
to France, then the United States in 1803. Florida became untenable
after 1817. Texas rose in rebellion from Mexico in 1836. After much
prodding from James Polk, Mexico “invaded” the United States in
1846. In the Treaty of Guadalupe-Hidalgo of 1848, Mexico recognized
the loss of Texas and ceded what became California, New Mexico,
and Arizona. Had the war dragged into 1849, the All of Mexico
movement might have prevailed and Mexico could have disappeared
as an independent nation.

Many would assert that manifest destiny was inevitable from the
founding of Jamestown and Plymouth Plantation. Whether or not that
is the case, at some point its force became overwhelming. This paper
asserts the key to this sequence of events was the Natchez District.
With it, and continued effective Indian relations, the possession of
land West of the Mississippi River was denied to the United States.
While numbers of Americans moved into Spanish territory and took
the required loyalty oath, the flag need not have followed. Daniel
Boone could have died a Spaniard, a respected alcalde in what never
became Missouri.

Flights of fancy aside, Spanish Natchez was the key to the North
American West. It was the levee holding the flood tide of expansion
of the young United States. When it was lost, Spanish and then
Mexican efforts to hold their ground were as useless as the orders of
the legendary Danish king Canute, who futilely bade the tide to stop.’

This paper is intended not so much to reveal new historical
svidence, but to show a plausible causal link between San Lorenzo
ind Guadalupe-Hidalgo. While manifest destiny may have been
nevitable before 1795, it certainly was after that date.
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San Lorenzo and the cession of Natchez to the United States was
the final episode in the struggle to control the North American
Southeast. The earliest rivals were Spain and France. The arrival of
La Salle on the Gulf Coast in 1681 set in motion a chain of events
which led to the founding of Biloxi, Mobile, Pensacola, and New
Orleans. At issue was the safety of New Spain, then an increasingly
valuable asset to Madrid.

The Family Compact of 1701 between the Bourbons of the two
nations effectively ended potential conflict. Then a new player, Great
Britain, arrived on the scene. British merchants from Carolina began
to threaten the immensely profitable fur and peltry trade of the French
with the natives. Spain, not a participant in this high stakes game,
remained marginalized at Pensacola, St. Marks, and St. Augustine. Its
chief concern in the region remained protection of the Flota and
conversion of the natives to Christianity.

Queen Anne’s War, more commonly known as the War of
Spanish Succession, threatened to reorder the area, but peace left the
French as strong as ever in the region. Spanish efforts to convert the
natives effectively ended with the destruction of the mission network
in north Florida. War came again in 1756, beginning this time in
America. In the end, though no territory in the Gulf region changed
hands by force of arms, the North American map was greatly
redrawn,

In 1763 the Treaty of Paris gave Britain all lands east of the
Mississippi River. Spanish Florida became two new British colonies,
open to immigration as an exception to the Proclamation of 1763. In
compensation Spain received Louisiana. Relations between the two
powers were wary and cautious. An illegal but flourishing trade
developed between Mobile and New Orleans.'

British West Florida suffered under indifferent and ineffectual
leadership until the arrival of Peter Chester as governor in 1770, and
immigration remained sparse for most of the land near Mobile and
Pensacola was suitable for little but the production of naval stores.

To the north lay the rich black soil of Natchez and numbers of
settlers began to arrive there after 1767. By 1774 hundreds were
clearing fields and planting crops. The outbreak of hostilities in
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Massachusetts in 1774 created a wave of Loyalist refugees. The
population of the area swelled to perhaps two thousand.

Bernardo Galvez arrived in 1778 as the new governor of
Louisiana. The presence of so many British subjects and potential
soldiers concerned him greatly. His uncle José Galvez, Minister of the
Indics, feared war between London and its colonies would eventually
involve Spain and perhaps endanger the empire.

France, eager for revenge for 1714 and 1763, needed only the
Battle of Saratoga to enter hostilities in 1778. Charles III of Spain
resisted implementation of the Family Compact, but relented in May
1779. Bernardo Galvez, already secretly supplying the rebels at Fort
Pitt, prepared plans for a preemptive strike on the Mississippi
settlements of British West Florida. Before word of hostilities reached
the British on September 6, 1779, a motley force of Spanish soldiers,
habitant militia, and friendly Indians captured Fort Manchac. On
September 20 Colonel Alexander Dickson surrendered at Baton Rouge
after a brief cannonade. Included in the terms of sumrender were
Natchez and its populace.

Any immediate threat to Louisiana ended, but what of the future?
How could the people living around Natchez with their long history
of emnity to Spain and its Catholic faith be ruled? Galvez possessed
scant resources for the task. The garrison at Naichez would number
sixty at the most, the British settler community numbered nearly two
thousand.

The change of flags was peaceful. Heads of household took the
required oath of allegiance to His Catholic Majesty. They were to
remain safe in their homes and property. They could not be forced
to take up arms against Britain, and did not have (o adopt the faith
of their rulers. Those who could not abide those terms were given
cight months to sell their property and leave.’

To the relief of the authorities, the settlers again proved
themselves to be apolitical. Earlier an expedition of rebels led by
James Willing in 1778 drew little local support. A proclamation of
neutrality and parole was issued by Captain Willing, and largely
observed. The few settlers who resisted had their lands ravaged, their
property seized.®
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In April of 1781 there was a brief uprising and Galvez lost
control of Natchez for six weeks. By the end of May the rebellion
collapsed, its leaders imprisoned or fled. The reaction of Spanish
officials was critical. How were they to treat this revolt? In their eyes
sworn subjects committed treason. In 1765 Alexander O’Reily had six
rebels executed following unrest at New Orleans.

The governor dispatched his assistant, Estevan Miro, to Natchez
to assess the situation. Eventually, John Blommart, merchant and
leader of the rising, lost all of his considerable property. Captain
Blommart and his five lieutenants remained under house arrest in New
Orleans until 1783 and then they were exiled. One was later allowed
to rejoin his family at Natchez. Others not arrested and taken to New
Orleans suffered varying degrees of seizure and sale of property based
on their involvement. Leniency remained the rule.

Fewer than fifty settlers participated in the rebellion. Others aided
the Spanish in secking and capturing those trying to escape. As in
1778 and 1779 most remained neutral. The latter included many
loyalists who had fled the Atlantic colonies and had much reason to
prefer the return of the British flag, yet took no action.

Policies put in place in 1779 remained. No one was compelled
to become Catholic. Despite the claims of some historians, authorities
turned a blind eye toward Protestant worship. For a time in the 1780s
authorities officially recognized marriages “performed according to the
form of the English church”” From 1782 until 1792 Miro was
governor of Louisiana. He expelled the Capuchin order and aborted
an effort to establish an inquisition in April 1790. Religious tolerance
remained in force. Governors of Natchez from Carlos Grandpre to
Manuel Gayoso atiended public Protestant sermons there.”

As early as 1780 constables appointed by the authoritics
summoned people to court, carried out judgements, and received fees.
Many local leaders served as translators, mediators, and appraisers of
property. By 1794 and perhaps even carlier, alcaldes were appointed
to try civil legal cases. While in no way democratic, the community
largely ruled itself. A scttler militia served at New Orleans in 1793
and 1794,

Benign rule, respect for Protestant preferences, and recognition of
their marriage ceremonies helped cement loyalty or at least passive
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acceptance of Spanish rule. Spain sought to forge another powerful
motivation to that end. From 1781 to 1789, the Crown bought all the
tobacco Natchez settlers could grow at three times the prevailing
world price. In the last year of subsidized buying nearly one million
pounds were grown and accepted for payment. This expensive practice
ended after 1789. The warehouses of New Spain were bulging with
a glut of unsold tobacco. Laws protected debtors until 1794 when
cotton was on its way to becoming the predominant crop at Natchez.

By 1795 the population at Natchez and the surrounding area
neared five thousand. Despite a flood of immigration from Kentucky
and Tennessee which began in 1790, no one openly challenged the
rule of Spain. The only cabals at Natchez were those of James
Wilkenson and Aaron Burr; and their plan was to add to Spanish
holdings, not to take them away. Spanish rule seemed secure, relations
with the tribes of the region had never been better.

While governor of Louisiana, Bernardo Galvez had little time to
concern himself with Indian relations. Natchez had experienced Indian
troubles in 1780, shortly after the Spanish conquest. In 1782 newly
promoted Estevan Miro embarked on a plan to establish a
confederation of tribes. The scheme envisioned a series of
offensive/defensive alliances with Spain and each tribe. Thought not
directly bound to peace with traditional foes, the terms of these
interlocking treaties created generally placid conditions. Even the worst
enemies, Choctaws and Chickasaws, were at peace more often than
not. By and large the efforts of William Augustus Bowles of the
United States to set the tribes at each other failed.

Colonel Juan Delavillebeuvre was the permanent ambassador to
the native nations. A lieutenant and the conqueror of the Natchez in
1781, he remained with the Indians for long periods of time, and was
well trusted. Miro’s replacement by the Baron De Carondelet in 1792
resulted in no change of his successful policy. If anything, relations
became stronger with the Treaty of Nogales in 1794.

To convince the Choctaw to cede land at Walnut Hill
(Vicksburg) for a fort to protect their subjects and the Indians,
Carondelet sent Delavillebeuvre to each tribe with a set speech, which
read in part:
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I have sent you a great chief to lead you in the right path, to defend
you from your enemies... He has given you good advice, and he has
told you to keep the roads white.... It should prevent the roads from
being reddened, the hearths of your brothers from being extinguished,
and their wives from being ravished."

As a result of the measures described above, Spain had a
peaceful and secure northern frontier outpost in 1794, Its settlers
repaid the authorities by mustering for militia service when needed,
yet were largely self-governing. Even the later prominent Andrew
Jackson stayed there for a time and took the required oath of
allegiance to the Spanish Crown.

Events in Europe erased two decades of patient policy and
capable diplomacy. The United States negotiated Jay's Treaty in 1794,
and seemed to be swinging towards abrogation of agreements made
with Spain in the wake of the American Revolution. If the new
nation became allied with Britain in war, Spanish America was in
danger of conquest by either or both.

To forestall that possibility, Charles IV decided to cede the
Natchez territory to the United States. This was accomplished in the
Treaty of San Lorenzo in 1795. Included in its terms was the right
of Americans to deposit their cargos at New Orleans for export with
minimal taxes levied. Though the treaty called for implementation in
six months, it was not until 1797 that Andrew Ellicott arrived at
Naichez to draw the treaty line at thirty-one degrees north latitude.

Ellicott was a competent astronomer/surveyor, but arrogant and
opinionated. He saw himself as not a hired artisan, but as the person
appointed to oversee a change of flags. With him was a group of
about forty adventurers hoping for fortune in the ceded territory. His
overbearing attitude so angered govemor Manuel Gayoso that the
latter began to stall, hoping to cause Spain to abrogate of the treaty.
He was backed by Carondelet.

Unrest ensued resulting in the Natchez revolt of 1797. Ellicott,
his opportunists, and a few locals began to agitate for an immediate
change of flags. The leadership of the community reacted with the
creation of a self-appointed, then elected, Committee of Safety. The
militia mustered at night to allow the small force of Spanish soldiers
at Fort Rosalie to get some rest.
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After a time a group including Ellicott and the “Spanish”
surveyor William Dunbar made their way south to draw the new
border at thirty-one degrees north latitude. They were unable to
complete their task. Indians, angry at Spain for violating their treaties,
and certain the United States coveted their land, beset the party and
they were forced to give up their survey.

Winthrop Sargent arrived in April 1798, the first territorial
governor of Mississippi. Many already indicated their choice of flags
by moving south to Baton Rouge. Fittingly, their new governor was
Colonel Carlos Grandpre. With the change Grandpre, resident at
Natchez since 1779, had received promotion and a new position.

For the second time in twenty years the community was under
a new flag. In neither case was the populace consulted. In neither
case were the wishes of the tribes considered. Events far away
dictated who owned Natchez.

The boundary of the United States now extended to the
Mississippi River. While one keystone of frontier defense was lost,
Louisiana and the thinly populated region of Texas still served as a
buffer beiween the United States and New Spain. The imperial dreams
of Napoleon Bonaparte altered that situation.

Prospects of peace in Europe in 1800 led Bonaparte to consider
the wider world. The French once held a considerable empire in the
Americas, and he set out to regain much of it. Its gem had been half
of the island of Santo Domingo.

To restore the island as a source of French wealth, the emperor
toock a number of steps. He tried to reimpose slavery, undoing one
of the first acts of the French Revolution. Restess since 1794, the
once and soon-to-be slaves rose in revolt. A French army of thirty
thousand sent to secure the island died, largely of disease, and Haiti
was born.

An important element of Napoleon’s American strategy was
Louisiana. It was necessary to provide lumber for sugar barrels and
as a source of food for slaves. Under considerable pressure Spain
retroceded Louisiana to France in the Treaty of San Ildefonso October
1, 1800, effective with the Treaty of Amiens in 1802. This
supposedly secret pact caused fears of a French empire in the West
to rise in the United States. Newly elected President Thomas Jefferson
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believed a French Louisiana would force the United States
permanently into the arms of Great Britain."

The next year Bonaparte faced the prospect of renewed hostilities
in Europe. Haiti would not be captured in the foresceable future as
he could not under the circumstances afford to send another army. In
that case Louisiana became expendable, especially after a long letter
from the American minister, Robert Livingston, convinced him the
territory was useless to France.”

The United States had been bargaining with little progress with
the French foreign minister Talleyrand for New Orleans and possibly
Florida. On October 11, 1802, he stunned the American delegation
with the offer of all of Louisiana. His master had ordered him to
dispose of the whole territory. The United States soon possessed the
vast but vaguely bordered lands west of the Mississippi, as well as
the vital port of New Orleans. Another domino had fallen to
American expansion.

Florida was now useless to Spain. It became untenable with the
campaign of Andrew Jackson in 1817. In 1819 the Adams-Onis treaty
recognized that reality. It also set the boundary between Spanish
Mexico and the United States. The Sabine River, a far less formidable
a barrier to expansion than the Mississippi separated the United States
from the rich black soil of the northern part of the soon-to-be
independent Texas. Secretary of State John Quincy Adams was widely
denounced for not demanding more of Spain.

Moses Austin, a native of Philadelphia, moved to Spanish
Missouri in 1796. By 1813 he was forming a scheme to move
himself and many others to Texas. He did not live to see the plan
to fruition, but his son Stephen persevered, and despite the revolution
creating Mexico in 1820, he received permission to locate large
numbers of settlers in the northern part of the state of
Texas-Coahuila.”

Thousands embarked from New Orleans and received generous
grants of land through Austin. Very soon, the non-anglo population
was overwhelmed in numbers by newly arrived settlers. The
constitution of Mexico called for a weak central government, with
great autonomy for the states. In the state of Texas-Coahuila there
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was a large degree of self-government for the recently arrived
Americans.

Only two requirements nceded to be met to immigrate. The
Catholic faith was mandatory and an oath of allegiance to Mexico
was required. As in the rest of newly independent Spanish America,
slavery was forbidden. Settlers, including Sam Houston, once seen as
a successor to Andrew Jackson, went through the motions of the first,
swore the second, and ignored the third. Though technically illegal,
slavery flourished, as did Texas. By 1830, it had a population of
thirty thousand, including a thousand slaves."

Texas became an object of intrigue. Many in the United States
resented the boundary of 1819; and in 1825 and 1828 the United
States tried to pgain adjustment in their favor. Mexico was not
interested. Some Americans called for invasion and conquest.

Texans scemed unmoved by these events. They had little to gain
by becoming part of the United States. Stephen Austin in particular
remained against annexation. By 1828 he held no official office, but
retained considerable influence.

There matters might have remained except for a power hungry
Antonio Lopez de Santa Anna. Posing as a reformer, he captured the
Mexican government in 1832. In 1835 he overthrew the constitution
and decrced a very strong ccntral government. Civil war broke out in
Mexico against the new regime, and the northern part of the country
was no exception. Texas gained independence after the victory of
Houslgn over Santa Anna at the Battle of San Jacinto on April 21,
1836.

For the next ten years, the issue of the annexation of Texas
remained in limbo. Presidents from Andrew Jackson to John Tyler
resisted political pressure. The main fear was upsetting the balance
established by the Missouri Compromise of 1820. The abolition
movement had begun to grow into a real force, and abolitionists
feared the addition of more slave territory. As long as Texas lay
outside the United States, the issue of the expansion of slavery need
not dominate national politics.

As with Natchez in 1795, not all Texans favored annexation.
Pioneer founder Stephen Austin and his supporters feared their power
and influence would wane. As no president could succeed himself,
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Austin alternated with the hero of San Jacinto, Sam Houston. Houston
favored annexation. So great was their emnity that each change of
administration caused a change of the national capitol. Both Britain
and France favored an mdepcndcnt Texas as a counter weight to the
growing United States."®

Santa Anna again caused war. Deposed in 1836 for losing Texas,
he returned to power in a coup in 1841. He quickly subdued
resistance to his rule and began to scheme to regain Texas. In the
fall of 1842 his army raided San Antonio. A strike in retaliation at
Santa Fe failed miserably. Rather than let matters rest, he ordered
border raids which kept Texas on edge.

Although deposed again in late 1844, Santa Anna had created an
unstoppable movement in the United States and Texas. It became one
of the central issues in the presidential election and was vital in
carrying James Polk to victory with the slogan “All of Texas, 54 ‘40
or Flght " the former referring in many mmds to Santa Fe and that
region, the latter to the Pacific Northwest.”

On his last day in office, March 3, 1845, John Tyler signed the
resolution creating the state of Texas. His successor resolved to carry
out his campaign promise of “All of Texas.” He demanded the
Mexican government surrender Santa Fe. Short of war, that country
would not give it up.

Polk found himself in a delicate position. The United States was
a peaceful nation which went to war only when attacked. But he was
determined to gain Santa Fe and California and therefore needed an
incident. Polk moved the Army to south Texas. Armed forces now
confronted each other across the Rio Grande. On April 23, 1846,
sixteen hundred Mexican cavalry troops crossed the river and an
Amencan patrol of sixty-three was decimated. The Mexican War had
begun

On February 2, 1848, Nicholas Trist and Mexican
commissioners appointed for the purpose signed a treaty of peace at
Guadalupe-Hidalgo. The saying “So near the United States, so far
from God” proved true. Terms of the pact forced Mexico to surrender
nearly half of its territory. Though Polk had dismissed Trist, he had
little choice but to accept the treaty as negotiated. A movement was
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rapidly growing to take all of Mexico with all the attendant political
dangers.

Slavery and its expansion became an issue which could no
longer be ignored. The Missouri Compromise had seemingly laid to
rest the problem of its continued existence as an institution. For thirty
years, the two sections and their leaders could fall back on the
measure's boundaries. Because of the Wilmot Proviso of 1846 barring
slaves from lands acquired in the Mexican War, the subsequent
Compromise of 1850 was only a truce, one that would end at Fort
Sumter on April 12, 1861.

In 1795 Spain need not have given up Natchez. Its populace
seemed complacently willing to accept her rule. The tribes of the area
enjoyed relative peace, they did not harm the inhabitants of Spanish
Natchez. Indian lands were guaranteed to them and not threatened.
But then, like a series of dominos, blocks of territory fell to the
United States after San Lorenzo: Louisiana in 1803, Florida in 1819,
Texas in 1845, California and the Southwest in 1848. Once the levee
was breached in 1795, the flood became unstoppable.
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“La peste” left many French graves on the island known as “Sacrificious.”
Author’s collection.
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“Peste, Tempestad, & Pitisserie”
The Pastry War: France’s Contribution to the
Maintenance of Texas’ Independence

Betje Klier

Battles with Mexican armies under General Antonio Lépez de
Santa Anna stand like bookends at the beginning and end of the
Republic of Texas, which existed from 1836 to 1845. The events of
the Texas Revolution and the defeat of Santa Anna’s army are well
known, but little is known of Santa Anna’s rise to power in 1829,
or his return to power after the eighteen-minute debacle at San
Jacinto and his disgraceful return home.

Santa Anna is one of history’s most gified opportunists. The first
two times he rose to power it was by masterfully taking credit for
cvents beyond his control: pushing back foreign invasions by the
Spanish in 1829 and by the French in 1838. His first rise to power
was due to environmental opportunism, symbolized by the “peste”
(plague) and “tempestad” (storm). Both scourges had supernatural
overtones to the Mexicans for whom “la peste y la tempestad” also
became the foreign policy and the formula for dealing with invasions.

The Texans knocked Santa Anna from his pedestal in 1836.
During the Pastry War with the French in 1838, another loss restored
Santa Anna to his pedestal: the loss of his leg! The French naval
blockade enabled Texas to remain independent from Mexico, be
recognized in Europe, and function as a fragile nation until statehood.
Tempted to call this paper “Biology and Opera” to underscore the
disparate nature of Santa Anna’s two opportunistic events but, unable
to resist the beauty of the Spanish and French languages, the author
has settled instead for “Peste, Tempestad, & Pitisserie.” Mexico had
just slipped out of Spain’s grasp after three hundred years of colonial
domination when Isidro Barradas arrived in 1829, sent by Ferdinand
VII with three thousand troops to initiate the reconquest of the land
initially subdued by Hernando Cortés in 1521.' For Cortés the
conquest had been made simple, or at least possible, when smallpox
decimated his opponents. But in 1829 the reverse was true: it was the
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Spanish invaders who were ravaged by “la peste.,” The surrender of
General Barradas to a Creole general at Tampico demonstrated that
Spanish soldiers were then incapable of conquering Mexico because
their immune systems no longer provided them the biological
advantages they had enjoyed three hundred years before. Although
historians once claimed that military power and divine intervention
shaped Mecxico, microbiology was the strongest determinant of
Mexico's destiny.”

Cortés’s first major decision after landing in Mexico was
irreversible. He grounded his ships to prevent desertions. Men and
biology werc irreversibly launched by his action; there could be no
return. Cortés canquercd Mexico for Spain and as a “‘great service to
God” with fewer than six hundred men, the first horses and guns hls
enemies had ever seen, and “the courage never to submit or ylcid o
Today we would add invisible biological weapons to his winning
arsenal.

As Alfred Crosby cautions, “When strangers meet, the degree of
difference between their bacterial florae can make more history than
the differences between their customs.” The bacterial florae introduced
by the conguistadores to the inhabitants of the New World, who
lacked the immunities of the invaders, induced epidemics of European
diseases. Eruptive fcvers such as measles, typhus, or smallpox were
the most deadly, and massive deaths followed in the wake of Cortés
and the Spaniards. Recent estimates put the Amerindian population at
twenty-five to thirty million when Cortés arrived. They were reduced
to three million in the first fifty years. Contagious diseases sprcad
among epidemiologically virgin populations which the Spaniards
encountered in sufficient density to generate disease cycles. That
density threshold is reached when orgamsms can sustain human-to-
human infection indefinitely. Smallpox in 1520, measles in 1530,
typhus in 1546, and influenza in 1558 struck Mexico in epidemic
proportions.

This first recorded American pandemic permitted the indigenous
survivors to develop immunities to European diseases. Sporadic lethal
epidemics then gave way to endemic patterns of infections, even
though the evolutionary selection process operating in the person-host
was operating simultaneously in the parasites. As the host grew
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resistant, the parasites grew virulent. Different communities exhibited
varying levels of susceptibility and immunity. But the immediate result
of the epidemics was depopulation of the Amerindian worker pool,
which triggered the importation of African slaves from the Carribean
Islands or Africa as replacements.

The human cargo introduced African diseases hkc malaria and
yellow fever along the Gulf Coast and tropical lowlands.” Sub-Saharan
tropical African diseases depend on constant moist temperatures above
60°F; 72°F is ideal. Immunity to these discases generally lasts only
one to two years. Mosquito larvae were transported in standing water,
typically around water casks or some other manufactured object. Soon
mosquitoes that could host and propagate potentially lethal microbes
thrived along Gulf Coast.” Yellow fever was first recorded in 1648,
when the arrival of the Aedes aegypti mOSquilo was signaled by an
epidemic among people and monkeys, and “malaria appears to have
completed the destruction of the Amerindians in the tropical lowlands
emptying formerly well-populated regions almost complctcly There
is no evidence, on the other hand, of African slaves dying of
European diseases.” The danger exists in the reverse since heat and
moisture support life more easily: microbes from warmer climes tend
to endanger people from cooler regions.

The ruling Spanish oligarchy would maintain its hold over
Creoles, Mestizos, and Amerindians for three centuries through an
ongoing replenishment of Spanish civil and religious personnel.
Importation of a ruling class even continued many years after
importation of slaves became illegal.” Spaniards seldom settled in the
coastal lowlands, where the slaves were most valuable for agricultural
work. Malaria was lethal to non-immune adult Europeans who,
therefore, preferred to reside instead in the more salubrious central
plateau where tropical diseases could not penetrate.

Finally, through the voice of the Catholic priest Father Miguel
Hidalgo, Mexico declared her independence from Spain in 1810, when
Ferdmand VII abdicated in favor of Napoleon’s brother, King
Joseph." At first the goal of Padre Hidalgo and his followers—devout
Catholics who supported rule by divine right-was to separate from
Spain and return to the Bourbon king (by divine right transmitted
through descendency), after ridding Mexico of Spaniards. Wildly
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divergent political factions united on a single objective: rid Mexico
of the ruling class. Spain’s response was to shoot and decapitate
Hidalgo, and place his head on a pike at the gates of Guanajuato,
where it remained until 1821, As the revolution progressed, the
divine right principle was forgotten, and the Mexicans, who remained
and still remain Catholic, came to believe that God supported
Mecxican independence instead. He gave them many biblical signs
which they recognized, especially “la tempestad” and “la peste.” “La
tempestad” was the late summer and early autumn hurricane season
on the East coast of Mexico. “La peste” was an epidemic of one or
several European or African diseases.

After nearly a decade of civil war Mexico and Spain agreed to
the Plan of Iguala in 1821. Resident Spaniards would have a year to
leave Mexico and would be permitted to take their money with them.
In 1822 the last Spanish cohort awaiting passage at Fort San Juan de
Ulda [St. Jean de Ulloa] was trapped there, and it was four years
before they could leave.” By 1826 few Spaniards were left in
Mexico, and the Mexicans felt protected by their impregnable fort and
“la tempestad.”"

The 1829 military attempt of Ferdinand VII and Barradas fell in
linc with Spain’s long history of heroic conquistadores and
reconquistadores.” Wishing to emulate Cortés, when he arrived in
July, Barradas marooned his men on the mainland by sending his
ships back to Cuba. Mexico was bankrupt and in a state of political
and military disarray. Barradas and his men triumphed in early
skirmishes along the coast until they began to fall ill from malaria
and yellow fever, or a combination of tropical discases. Soldiers in
close quarters also fell prey to diseases of crowding like TB,
dysentery, and pneumonia.”” Nine hundred of Barradas’s men died in
the first two months. Hundreds of others undoubtedly wished to die
and there were no boats to take them home.

Intent on halting the reconquest after receiving word of the
landing of Barradas, General Antonio Lépez de Santa Anna sent
armed soldiers in the middle of the night to the homes of wealthier
Mexican families and foreign investors in Veracruz. Although the
departing Spaniards had withdrawn the major capital from the
economy and the national treasury was emply, Santa Anna's
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henchmen succeeded in making “forced loans™ to finance an army. He
appeared in Tampico with his ill-equipped and undisciplined troops
and demanded a capitulation from the Spaniard. Barradas refused, but
offered to pardon Santa Anna’s troops and make him “Duque de
Tampico” if they joined him. Santa Anna asked for three days to
think it over. It was time Barradas could not spare, but he agreed
nonetheless. While waiting, the surgeons performed autopsies on some
of Barradas’ dead soldiers and reported “la peste oriental.” Barradas
also fell ill. They were running out of food, and more of his men
succumbed to the fevers.

During their negotiations, on the evening of September 9, the
war zone was struck by a hurricane, “la tempestad.” The devastation
was horrific:

“En Pueblo Viejo, los soldados estin refugiados en las azoteas. ‘Todo
el pais, hasta formar horizonte, ¢s un mar.’ Flotan las chozas, el ganado,
caddveres."”

Cortados de su base, sin alimentos, enfermos, sin esperanza, el tiempo
s6lo los [los soldados espafioles] hard capitular.

Pero un triunfo asf no debe satisfacer a un soldado. Santa Anna lo £s....
No lc interesa que sea la peste que rinda a Barradas, Quiere ser é.'

While Santa Anna was pondering Barradas’s offer, Mexican
reinforcements arrived, bringing his troop strength to eight thousand.

Barradas capitulated on September 11, 1829. All he could do
was plead for an honorable surrender and medical attention, plus
transportation away from the cursed tropics. His surviving troops
sailed back to Cuba after promising never to return and bear arms
against the Mexican Republic. “Mil setecientos no regresan. Metralla
y pesle. Bayoneta y plomo."'g Muiioz described the joyful celebrations
in the capital when the dispatch arrived announcing the capitulation,
“melodramaitico y plagado de mentiras.”””

Typically, Santa Anna claimed a great military victory and
became the “hero of Tampico” instead of its Duke.”’ It requires an
adjustment of thought to consider as “bioclogically advantaged” the
sallow, runty, pock-marked Santa Anna, often mocked for the
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difficulty he experienced preventing his sword from dragging the
ground. The Veracruz native was nonetheless immune to the invisible
“bullets” that proliferated along the hot and humid Gulf coast and
leveled the “reconquering” Spaniards.

Revisiting this incident today, one might be inclined to say that
it was Santa Anna-not Barradas—who emulated Cortés, because it was
Santa Anna who inherited the personal, political, and military spoils
delivered by his invisible biological weapons. The European diseases
brought by Cortés's followers no longer influenced the outcome of
colonial confrontations as soon as Spaniards and Mexicans alike had
immunities to them, and the advantage shifted to the side of those
who could tolerate the tropical biota, as well as the newer, more
virulent Mexican strains of European diseases. Barradas was obviously
devoted to the monarchy and to Ferdinand VII, but none of his men
were immune to the African diseases that had taken up residence
during the long colonial period. Practically speaking, Mexico had just
one border to defend, the Gulf Coast, where the microbes stood
invisible guard. And “la pestc” of spring and summer was seconded
by “la tempestad” in the autumn, and San Juan de Ulda barred entry
into the harbor in the winter. Spain eventually had no choice but to
recognize Mexico's independence. The Mexican people perceived that
Santa Anna had been chosen by God, who sent both “la peste” and
“la tempestad” to aid him in a holy cause, and the Spaniards, also
Catholic, concurred that it was God’s will for Mexico to be
independent.

The year following the defeat of Barradas, Mexico's president,
Vincente Guerrero,> was unseated by his vice-president, General
Anastasio Bustamante, who ruled for the next two years with a
vigorous and efficient government. (His minister Lucas Alamdén
deserves most of the credit, however,) Crime was reduced, and roads
were cleared of bandits. Customs house revenues, the sole source of
government funding after the departure of the Spaniards, increased
because smuggling was stamped out.”

In view of the efficiency of the Bustamante administration, how
did Santa Anna usurp his position? Biological opportunism. Santa
Anna awaited the outcries against the reforms from those who had
lost their privileges, then seized the customs houses at Veracruz and
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personally pocketed the revenues. Bustamanie sent government troops
to Veracruz, but malaria defeated them. Emboldened by Santa Anna’s
audacity, other states announced that they would no longer accept the
dictates of Bustamante's central government. Finally, when Presidente
Bustamante resigned in disgust and sailed to England, Congress
simply proclaimed Santa Anna president of the Republic and Gémez
Farias vice-president.

Instead of journeying to the capital to be installed as president
in 1833, Santa Anna retired to Manga de Clavo, his hacienda near
Veracruz. He sent Farias to stand in for him at the inauguration, then
act as provisional president. Gémez Farias, “a drum-be